RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jul 29, 2015, 2:27 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

F

PETITION FOR REVIEW			
Appellee.			
DEUTSCHE BANK NATIONAL TRUST COMPANY, as Trustee on behalf of Certificateholders of the Morgan Stanley ABS Capital 1 Inc. Trust 2006-HE6, Mortgage Pass-Though Certificates, Series 2005-HE6,			
v.			
Appellant,			
FORD SERVICES, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,			
IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON			
No. Court of Appeals, Case No. 72131-3-1			
Court of Anneals Case No. 72131-3-1			

Cale L. Ehrlich, #44359
Email: cehrlich@tousley.com
TOUSLEY BRAIN STEPHENS PLLC
1700 Seventh Avenue, Suite 2200
Seattle, WA 98101
Tel: (206) 682 5600

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Ford Services, LLC, purchaser of property sold at sheriff's sale below.

### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b)(1), Ford Services respectfully requests this court review the unpublished decision in <u>Ford Services, LLC v.</u>

<u>Deutsche Bank National Trust Company, --- Wn. App. ---, --- P.3d ---, Case No. 72131-3-I, filed on June 29, 2015, by Division One of the Court of Appeals (the "Decision"). A copy of the decision is attached hereto as Appendix A.</u>

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Review by the Supreme Court is necessary to address a conflict between the Decision of the Court of Appeals in this matter, and Washington State Supreme Court precedent governing service under Washington law before the adoption of the Long Arm Statute, RCW 4.28.185. In this case, the City of Sedro Woolley (the "City") foreclosed liens against property on which Deutsche Bank held a deed of trust. It served Deutsche Bank out of state, and did not file an affidavit pursuant to RCW 4.28.185(4) stating that Deutsche Bank could not be located within the state. Deutsche Bank moved to vacate the sale, and Ford Services, along with the City, opposed vacation on the grounds that the requirements of RCW 4.28.185(4) do not apply to foreclosure actions,

because service out of state was permitted in foreclosure actions before adoption of the Long Arm Statute, and the Long Arm Statute provides that it does not "limit[] or affect[] the right to serve any process in any manner now . . . provided at law." RCW 4.28.185(6).

The trial court vacated the judgment, and the Court of Appeal upheld the decision, finding that it was not established that personal service out of state was permissible in foreclosure actions before adoption of the Long Arm Statute. This conclusion conflicts with Roznik v.

Becker, 68 Wash. 63, 122 P. 593 (1912) and Jennings v. Rocky Bar Gold Mining Co., 29 Wash. 726, 70 P. 136 (1902).

The appellate court's Decision also "involves an issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Judgments that are based on improper service are "void" under CR 60(b)(5), and there is no time limit on when a party may move for vacation of a judgment that is void. The Court of Appeals' Decision is based on the adoption of the Long Arm Statute in 1959. Allowing defendants to reach back to 1959 in an attempt to invalidate judgments runs the risk of substantially upsetting the stability of judgments in Washington – an issue of substantial public interest.

Because the reasoning of the Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with established Supreme Court precedent, and because the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest, Ford Services respectfully requests review of the following question:

Is personal service out of state valid, notwithstanding the lack of an affidavit under RCW 4.28.185(4), where the only relief sought pursuant to the out of state service is foreclosure of the defendant's interest in property?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Factual Background

The facts in this case are straightforward and not in dispute.

### 1. The Original Foreclosure Action

On November 1, 2012, the City filed this action against the Amaros and against Deutsche Bank seeking to foreclose municipal utilities liens against:

Lot 6, "THYME SQUARE BINDING SITE PLAN", approved October 19, 2005 and recorded on November 10, 2005, under Auditor's File No. 2005111100117, records of Skagit County, Wash.

(P123733)

(the "Property"). CP 34-36. The Amaros were named as the record owners of the Property. CP 34. Deutsche Bank was named as the successor beneficiary of two deeds of trust encumbering the property. CP 34-35. Deutsche Bank was served with the summons and complaint on November 12, 2012, in Santa Ana, California. CP 120.

Neither party answered the complaint. On January 9, 2013, the City moved for summary judgment against the Amaros. CP 61-62. The Court granted the motion for default against the Amaros on January 11, 2013. CP 93. The City moved for entry of a default judgment against Deutsche Bank. CP 117-118. The superior court granted the motion for default against Deutsche Bank on January 28, 2013. CP 121.

On April 19, 2013, the sheriff sold the property at a Sheriff's sale to Heritage Forest, LLC ("Heritage"). CP 29-30. The sale was confirmed on May 17, 2013. Id. On January 9, 2014, appellant Ford redeemed the property from Heritage and received a certificate of redemption from the Sheriff. CP 45-47. Ford Services issued a Notice of Expiration of Redemption Period on March 3, 2014, CP 51-53, and the redemption period has since expired.

### 2. <u>Deutsche Bank Attempts to Vacate the Judgment</u>

On April 10, 2014, after ignoring the lawsuit for over a year,

Deutsche Bank moved to vacate the default judgment entered against it.

CP 56-60. Deutsche Bank did not argue that it had not been served, or that it had not received adequate notice of the suit. In fact, it did not offer any reason that it had failed to respond to the suit. Id. Instead, it raised the purely technical issue that the City had served Deutsche Bank outside

the state of Washington, but had not filed an affidavit stating that service could not be made within the state. <u>Id.</u> Deutsche Bank claimed that this alleged technical defect violated RCW 4.28.185(4), and deprived the superior court of jurisdiction, necessitating vacation of the judgment.

### B. Procedural Background

As the redemptioner, Ford appeared in the case, without objection, to oppose vacation of the judgment—an opposition in which it was joined by the City. CP 83-92, 78-82. Ford opposed vacation of the judgment primarily on the ground that out of state service for foreclosure actions predates the enactment of the long arm statute, RCW 4.28.185, and the long arm statute specifically exempts from its coverage "the right to serve any process in any other manner now or hereafter provided by law." RCW 4.28.185(6).

The Superior Court disagreed, holding that the long arm statute *did* affect the preexisting right to serve process out of state in foreclosure action, and therefore the judgment must be vacated. CP 104-105. The Superior Court erred in vacating the judgment because its decision is contrary to the plain language of the redemption statute. Ford therefore appealed the decision to the Court of Appeals. CP 106-110 and 111-116.

Following briefing and oral argument, the Court of Appeals upheld the judgment of the Superior Court. Although it was not explicit, the grounds on which the Court of Appeals relied differed from the grounds relied upon by the Superior Court. While the Superior Court focused on the change in the constitutional law governing service that occurred both before and after adoption of the long arm statute, the Court of Appeals expressly rejected this theory. See Decision, App'x A. at 3 (agreeing with Ford's argument that this is an issue of statutory construction, not of constitutional requirements for service.) Instead, the Court of Appeals based its decision on the lack of finding evidence that service in a foreclosure action without filing an affidavit was permissible before the adoption of the Long Arm Statute. Because that conclusion conflicts with decisions of this Court, Ford Services has filed this Petition for Review.

### V. ARGUMENT

This Court will grant review with a Court of Appeals decision "is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court. . ." RAP 13.4(b)(1). This Court will also grant review if "the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Division One's decision fits both grounds for review.

# A. The Appellate Court's Decision Conflicts With Established Supreme Court Precedent

The Decision of the Court of Appeals was based on its failure to find that personal service out of state was a valid in foreclosure actions, without filing any affidavit, before adoption of the Long Arm Statute in 1959. See, Decision, App'x A at 3 ("But Ford does not establish the standards that applied to out-of-state personal service before 1959"). This holding conflicts with pre-Long Arm Statute decisions of this Court expressly holding that personal service out of state does not require filing of an affidavit if the action is one for foreclosure of property.

# 1. The Long Arm Statute Was Meant to Expand Personal Service Out of State, Not Restrict It

Washington adopted its long arm statute in 1959 to effect an expansion of jurisdiction over persons served out of state. RCW 4.28.185. The intent that the statute was to be an expansion of jurisdiction is expressed in the statute itself, as it provides that "[n]othing herein contained limits or affects the right to serve any process in any other manner now or hereafter provided at law." RCW 4.28.185(6) (emphasis added). The long arm statute defined broad categories of acts for which one could now be personally served out of state: e.g., transaction of business, commission of torts, contracting to insure persons or property,

and ownership of property. RCW 4.28.185(1). It then preserved all other methods of service already permissible. RCW 4.28.185(6).

The Long Arm Statute also placed requirements and conditions on when and how service could be made under the Long Arm Statute. For example, service must be made by personal service. RCW 4.28.185(3). If the out of state party prevails in the action, costs and reasonable attorneys' fees may be assessed against the plaintiff. RCW 4.28.185(5). Most importantly in the context of this case, it added the requirement that for actions under the Long Arm Statute, "[p]ersonal service outside the state shall be valid only when an affidavit is made and filed to the effect that service cannot be made within the state," RCW 4.28.185(4). However, because the Long Arm Statute expressly disclaims any effect on "the right to serve process in any other manner" that was permitted at the time of its adoption, these requirements can only apply in actions in which personal service outside the state was not permissible before adoption of the long arm statute. RCW 4.28.185(6). The question then is whether such service would have been permissible in this case before 1959. Because Supreme Court precedent establishes that such service was appropriate, Division One's Decision conflicts with decisions of this court and review is appropriate.

The City filed a lawsuit against Deutsche Bank for foreclosure of Deutsche Bank's rights, as holder of a deed of trust, in the Property. The

City did not seek damages against Deutsche Bank, or any other "personal" relief against Deutsche Bank; it sought only foreclosure. Logically, if personal service out of state was permissible in foreclosure actions before 1959, without filing an affidavit that the defendant could not be located within the state, then service was appropriate in this case under RCW 4.28.185(6).

2. The Supreme Court Has Held That, Before the Adoption of the Long Arm Statute, No Affidavit Was Required to Personally Serve a Defendant Out of State in a Foreclosure Action

At least two times before adoption of the Long Arm Statute, this Court directly addressed the question of the procedural requirements for out of state service in foreclosure actions. First, in Jennings v. Rocky Bar Gold Mining Co., 29 Wash. 726, 70 P. 136 (1902), the plaintiff served one of the defendants, Towne, in the state of Idaho. Id. at 727. Just as in this case, no party appeared, the court entered default judgment, and the defendant moved to vacate the judgment. Id. At issue were two statutes that are the predecessors to Washington's current service statutes: 2

There are many more decisions of this Court and others, including the United States Supreme Court, addressing substantive Constitutional rights related to service of process, both before and after adoption of the Long Arm Statute. See, e.g., Shaffer v. Heitner, 433 U.S. 186, 97 S. Ct. 2569, 53 L. Ed. 2d 683 (1977); Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 319, 70 S. Ct. 652, 94 L. Ed. 865 (1950); and International Shoe Co. v. State of Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316, 90 L. Ed. 95, 66 S. Ct. 154 (1945). The Constitutional impact of these cases is not relevant here, as no party disputes the constitutionality of service in this case. The only question is whether the service also complied with statutory or common law requirements for service.

Ballinger's Ann. Codes & St. § 4877 and 2 Ballinger's Ann. Codes & St. § 4879.

Section 4879 was the predecessor to modern RCW 4.28.180, and provided:

Personal service on the defendant out of the state shall be equivalent to service by publication, and the summons upon the defendant out of the state shall contain the same as personal summons within the state, except it shall require the defendant to appear and answer within sixty days after such personal service out of the state.

2 Ballinger's Ann. Codes & St. § 4879.<sup>2</sup> Section 4877 was the predecessor to modern RCW 4.28.100, and provided:

When the defendant cannot be found within the state . . . and upon the filing of an affidavit of the plaintiff . . . stating that he believes that the defendant is not a resident of the state, or can not [sic] be found therein . . . the service may be made by publication of the summons, by the plaintiff or his attorney in either of the following cases:

\*\*\*

5. When the subject of the action is real or personal property in this state and the defendant has or claims a lien or interest, actual or contingent, therein, or the relief demanded consists wholly, or partly, in excluding the defendant from any interest or lien therein;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This statute is substantially the same as modern RCW 4.28.180, except RCW 4.28.180 provides that the service has the force of service by publication if made on a party that has not submitted to the jurisdiction of the state, otherwise it has the force of publication.

6. When the action is to foreclose, satisfy, or redeem from a mortgage, or to enforce a lien of any kind on real estate in the county where the action is brought, or satisfy or redeem from the same; . . .

Ballinger's Ann. Codes & St. § 4877.3

The defendant argued that personal service out of state was not proper, because service out of state was "equivalent to service by publication" and no affidavit had been filed as required for service by publication. Jennings, 29 Wash. at 727-28. The court first noted that "[t]he right to subject property within the state to the jurisdiction of its courts is undoubted." Id. at 728. The court then held that although service requirements must be strictly followed "[§ 4879] provides for personal service out of the state, and declares it shall be equivalent to service by publication." Id. Therefore, personal service was proper, and did not "require the affidavit made necessary in service by publication." Id. Under the statutory scheme that predated RCW 4.28.185, and lives on in RCW 4.28.100 and 180, this Court held that no affidavit was required for personal service out of state in a foreclosure action.

The court addressed the same question ten years later in <u>Roznik v.</u>

<u>Becker</u>, 68 Wash. 63, 122 P. 593 (1912). In <u>Roznik</u>, plaintiff brought an action to attach and foreclose personal property belonging to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This statute is substantially the same as modern RCW 4.28.100 except that some of the permissible uses of summons by publication have been modified (although not the two mentioned above).

defendant. <u>Id.</u> at 64-65. Plaintiff served defendant out of state in New York. <u>Id.</u> at 65. The defendant raised numerous objections to service, including that "the service was void because made without the state and there was no preliminary showing that the appellant was a nonresident of the state, and could not be found therein." <u>Id.</u> at 69. This was the same argument advanced in <u>Jennings</u>, although now under the successor (but identical) statutes, Rem. & Bal. Code § 228 (former § 4877 governing service by publication) and Rem. & Bal. Code § 234 (former § 4879 governing personal service out of state).

The court again rejected the argument, holding:

But such a showing while a preliminary requisite to the service of a summons by publication is not such a requisite where the service is personal on the defendant although without the state. The statute, it is true, provides that personal service without the state shall be equivalent to service by publication, but this does not mean that the preliminary requisite to making the one form of service is necessary to making the other.

<u>Id.</u> at 69. Twice the court was squarely asked to determine whether, in a foreclosure action, a party could personally serve a defendant out of state to initiate a foreclosure action *without* filing an affidavit that the person served could not be located within the state. Both times, the Supreme Court upheld service without an affidavit.

These decisions comport with later decisions, both pre- and post-Long Arm Statute. For example, in <u>Harder v. McKinney</u>, 187 Wash. 457, 60 P.2d 84 (1936), the defendant was served in Oregon for a foreclosure action in Washington. Although the issue of an affidavit was not directly raised (and did not need to be, having been resolved more than 20 years earlier), the court did again note that personal service out of state was equivalent to service by publication and was appropriate in a foreclosure action. Id. at 460-61.<sup>4</sup>

The post-Long Arm Statute case of Hatch v. Princess Louise

Corp., 13 Wn. App. 378, 534 P.2d 1036 (1975) presented a similar issue.

In Hatch, the plaintiff sued seeking foreclosure of a lien and seeking a personal judgment against defendant. The plaintiff did not file the affidavit required by RCW 4.28.185(4) before entry of the judgment. Id. at 379. The defendant challenged the personal judgment for failure to file the affidavit, but both parties presumed that, in accordance with pre-Long Arm Statute law, the "in rem" judgment foreclosing the lien was valid without an affidavit. Id. The court of appeals reversed the trial court's judgment for lack of jurisdiction "as to the exercise of personam jurisdiction over the Princess Louise Corporation" but affirmed the judgment "as to the exercise of in rem jurisdiction in foreclosing the mortgage on the hulk." Id. at 380.5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Again, this case involved a predecessor statute to RCW 4.28.180, in this case Rem. Rev. Stat. § 234.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Admittedly, the defendant did not challenge the foreclosure, presuming it to be valid, but the fact that the defendant presumed the foreclosure valid is in line with the Supreme Court precedent holding such judgments valid without an affidavit.

In light of this court's decisions interpreting the predecessors to RCW 4.28.180 and RCW 4.28.100, the appellate court's Decision is in direct conflict with Supreme Court precedent.

### 3. The Appellate Court's Error Necessitates Reversal

The Decision of the Court of Appeals is not only in direct conflict with Supreme Court precedent, but the conflict is on an issue that necessitates reversing the appellate court's decision. The Long Arm Statute requires the filing of an affidavit before the court exercises jurisdiction over a defendant. RCW 4.28.185(4). The long arm statute also provides, however, that any method of service that was valid at the time of the enactment of the long arm statute remains valid following its enactment. RCW 4.28.185(6). As discussed above, this catch-all clause is in line with the Long Arm Statute's purpose of expanding service out of state.

Before the enactment of the Long Arm Statute, under the predecessors to RCW 4.28.180, specifically 2 Ballinger's Ann. Codes & St. § 4879, Rem. & Bal. Code § 234, and Rem. Rev. Stat. § 234, personal service out of state was permissible in an action to foreclose an interest in property. The Supreme Court held multiple times that although this service was "equivalent to service by publication" personal service out of state did not carry the requirement of service by publication that the plaintiff file an affidavit stating that the party could not be found within

the state. Therefore, before the enactment of RCW 4.28.185, personal service out of state was permissible in a foreclosure action without filing an affidavit.

The successor to the statutes under which such service was permissible remains in effect today, RCW 4.28.180. If such service is no longer permissible, it must be due to the enactment of the Long Arm Statute in the intervening period, but the Long Arm Statute expressly disclaims any effect on pre-existing methods of service.

The City's service in this case, out of state service to foreclose a lien, without filing an affidavit, was appropriate before enactment of the Long Arm Statute. By the statutes own terms, it remains valid after enactment of the Long Arm Statute. The Court of Appeals erred in overlooking Supreme Court precedent to the contrary, and review is appropriate.

# B. The Court Should Grant Review Because Validity of Judgments is an Important Issue of Public Policy

In addition to the conflict discussed above, this Court should grant review because the appellate court's Decision will have wide ranging implications for all judgments entered after 1959, the year the legislature enacted the Long Arm Statute. Motions to vacate a judgment are governed by CR 60, which provides a list of grounds on which a court may vacate a judgment. CR 60(b). For most of these grounds, a motion to vacate "shall be made within a reasonable time" and when based on certain circumstances "shall be made . . . not more than 1 year after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken." CR 60(b). This naturally limits the retrospective impact of any opinion regarding vacation of judgments, because only parties who had judgments entered against them in the relatively recent past could take advantage of the opinion.

That is not the case, however, in cases where the objection to the judgment is on the basis of improper service. "Proper service of the summons and complaint is essential to invoke personal jurisdiction over a party, and a default judgment entered without proper jurisdiction is void." Marriage of Markowski, 50 Wn. App. 633, 635-36, 749 P.2d 754 (1988) (citing Mid-City Materials, Inc. v. Heater Beaters Custom Fireplaces, 36 Wn. App. 480, 674 P.2d 1271 (1984); Lee v. Western Processing Co., 35 Wn. App. 466, 469, 667 P.2d 638 (1983)). Courts have a nondiscretionary

duty to vacate void judgments. <u>Brickum Inv. Co. v. Vernham Corp.</u>, 46 Wn. App. 517, 520-21, 731 P.2d 533 (1987). Therefore, "[m]otions to vacate under CR 60(b)(5) [for void judgments], may be brought at any time after entry of judgment." <u>Marriage of Markowski</u>, 50 Wn. App. at 635 (citing <u>In re Marriage of Maxfield</u>, 47 Wn. App. 699, 702, 737 P.2d 671 (1987) ("[v]oid orders and judgments may be vacated irrespective of lapse of time"); <u>In re Marriage of Hardt</u>, 39 Wn. App. 493, 496, 693 P.2d 1386 (1985)).

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