A. Summary of the Argument 

Washington's long-arm statute authorizes personal service out of 

state but provides that "[p ]ersonal service outside the state shall be valid 

only when an affidavit is made and filed to the effect that service cannot 

be made within the state." RCW 4.28.185(4). The City ofSedro Woolley, 

plaintiff below, 1 commenced an action to foreclose a lien on real property 

located in Washington state, and served Deutsche Bank, a junior lienor, 

out of state, but failed to file the required affidavit before taking a default 

judgment. 

Deutsche Bank sought to have the judgment vacated, and the trial 

court and the Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the default judgment 

was void for failure to comply with affidavit requirement of the long-arm 

statute. Sharebuilder Sec. Corp. v. Hoang, 137 Wn. App. 330, 335, 153 

P.3d 222 (2007); Morris v. Palouse River & Coulee City R.R. Inc., 149 

Wn. App. 366, 371-72, 203 P.3d 1069 (2009). 

As the holder of a mortgage against real property located in 

Washington, Deutsche Bank had submitted to the jurisdiction of the 

Washington courts, as Ford conceded to the Court of Appeals. RCW 

1 Appellant Ford Services LLC was the ultimate purchaser of the foreclosed real 
prope1ty. Opinion at 2. 
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4.28.185(1)(a) and (c). 2 As the Court of Appeals noted in its Opinion, 

"[t]he parties agree that Deutsche Bank has "submitted" itself to the 

jurisdiction of Washington courts. Deutsche Bank lent money and 

recorded a deed of trust on property located in this state. . . . Having 

"submitted" to the jurisdiction of Washington courts, both RCW 4.28.180 

and RCW 4.28.185 apply to any out of state service upon Deutsche Bank." 

Opinion at 5-6 (citation omitted). 

As Deutsche Bank argued to the trial court and the Court of 

Appeals, Ford's basic argument - that the long-arm statute permits or 

preserves different treatment of foreclosure cases - has no basis in the 

statute or otherwise. The long-arm statute recognizes that its enactment 

did not render invalid other legally valid manners of service, but the 

statute does not exclude foreclosure actions - or any other particular 

substantive type of lawsuit - from its reach. RCW 4.28.185( 6). 3 Simply 

put, a foreclosure action is a not a "manner of service." Ford's argument 

is without merit. 

In sum, there is no issue worthy of this Court's review in this case. 

This case is a straightforward application of plain rules to undisputed 

2 "(a) The transaction of any business within this state;" and "(c) The ownership, 
use, or possession of any property whether real or personal situated in this state." 
3 "Nothing herein contained limits or affects the right to serve any process in any 
other manner now or hereafter provided by law." 
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facts. The Court of Appeals' Opinion is not in conflict with any 

Washington Supreme Court case. Personal service on Deutsche Bank was 

made out of state under the long-arm statute, and the required affidavit 

was not filed before judgment. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that 

an affidavit was required in this case, as in all others that fall under RCW 

4.28.185. The judgment is void, as the lower courts correctly ruled. 

B. Argument 

1. Ford's Original Argument In The Trial Court Was 
Based Upon The Treatment of Foreclosure Actions 
Under Pennoyer v. Neff 

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, "[t]he constitutional due 

process notice and minimum contacts standards apply equally to actions in 

rem, quasi in rem, and in personam." Opinion at 3. But throughout this 

case, Ford has made several arguments attempting to exclude foreclosure 

actions from the reach of the long-arm statute because Ford asserts 

(incorrectly) that foreclosure actions are "in rem" actions and are therefore 

accorded different treatment.4 Ford's original argument in the trial court 

asserted that a foreclosure action was "in rem" and as such fell outside 

RCW 4.28.185 which, Ford asserted, applied only to "in personam" 

actions: 

4 See Respondent Deutsche Bank's Appellate Brief at 3-5. 
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CP 83-92. 

"Deutsche Bank's argument conflates in personam 
jurisdiction and in rem jurisdiction. An action to 
foreclose a lien does not require in personam 
jurisdiction over the defendant, on in rem 
jurisdiction over the defendant's property -
because RCW 4.28.185 deals only with in 
personam jurisdiction, it does not apply." 

At one time, as Ford argues, a state court was deemed to have 

jurisdiction over any property located within its borders, and if it entered a 

judgment that only affected such property, constructive notice to the 

owner of the property was all that was required. Pennoyer v. Neff, 95 

U.S. 714 (1878). This legal theory is the basis of the argument set out 

above, and of the cases upon which Ford relies in its petition to this Court. 

But those days are long past, swept, as the phrase goes, into the 

"dustbin of history." The 19th century theory of long-arm jurisdiction of 

Pennoyer that Ford relied upon was rejected by Mullane v. Cent. Hanover 

Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306,312,70 S. Ct. 652,94 L. Ed. 865 (1950); 

Shaffer v. Heitner, 433 U.S. 186, 97 S. Ct. 2569, 53 L. Ed. 2d 683 (1977), 

Int'l Shoe Co. v. State of Wash., 326 U.S. 310,316,66 S. Ct. 154,90 L. 

Ed. 95 (1945)); Mennonite Bd. of Missions v. Adams, 462 U.S. 791, 796 

n.3, 103 S. Ct. 2706, 77 L. Ed. 2d 180 ( 1983) and their progeny, including 

this Court in Wenatchee Reclamation Dist. v. Mustell, 102 Wn.2d 721, 

725-26,684 P.2d 1275 (1984): 
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Prior to Mullane, due process rights tended to vary 
depending on whether an action was in rem or in 
personam. Personal service was considered 
essential when a state court based its jurisdiction 
upon its authority over a defendant's person; 
constructive notice to nonresidents satisfied the 
requirements of due process when jurisdiction was 
based upon the court's authority over property 
within its territory. See generally Shaffer v. 
Heitner, 433 U.S. 186, 196-205, 53 L. Ed. 2d 683, 
97 S. Ct. 2569 (1977). The Mullane Court, 
however, rejected this distinction between in rem 
and in personam actions for purposes of 
determining the sufficiency of notice, stating "we 
think that the requirements of the Fourteenth 
Amendment . . . do not depend upon a 
classification for which the standards are so 
elusive ... " 339 U.S. at 312 . 

. . . Recently, in Mennonite Bd. of Missions v. 
Adams, U.S. , 77 L. Ed. 2d 180, 103 S. Ct. - -
2706 (1983), the Court held that notice by 
publication and posting does not provide a 
mortgagee of real property adequate notice of a 
proceeding to sell the mortgaged property for 
nonpayment of property taxes. The Court 
reasoned that, since a mortgagee clearly has a 
legally protected property interest, he is entitled to 
notice reasonably calculated to apprise him of a 
pending tax sale. Constructive notice to a 
mortgagee who is identified in the public record 
does not satisfy Mullane. Personal service or 
mailed notice is required. Mennonite, 103 S. Ct. at 
2711-12." 

Wenatchee Reclamation Dist. 102 Wn.2d, at 725-26 (first and second 

ellipsis in original). On appeal, Ford, while it abandoned its argument that 

"in rem" and "in personam" cases were entitled to different treatment 

under the long-arm statute, did not abandon its position that foreclosure 
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actions are entitled to different treatment. However, as explained in the 

following sections, Ford's argument fares no better under the provisions of 

the long-arm statute. 

2. The Long Arm Statute Does Not Exclude Foreclosure 
Actions From Its Operation 

Instead of resting its argument on the rejected distinction between 

"in rem" jurisdiction and "in personam" jurisdiction, Ford changed gears 

to argue that foreclosure actions retained a special status by virtue of 

subsection (6) of the long-arm statute. Ford argues that RCW 4.28.185(6) 

preserves service in "foreclosure" cases, i.e., a party may commence a 

foreclosure action with personal service out of state without the need to 

file the required affidavit. Subsection (6) provides that 

"Nothing herein contained limits or affects the 
right to serve any process in any other manner 
now or hereafter provided by law. 

But Ford's argument is plainly a non-sequitor. Subsection (6) 

preserves other manners of service of process, not substantive types of 

lawsuits. "[P]rocess [served] in any other manner" would include, among 

others, service by publication, by mail, upon the secretary of state, upon 

the insurance commissioner, etc. But a foreclosure action is not a "manner 

of service," and the long-arm statute does not provide blanket exceptions 

from its coverage for substantive types of cases. 

79776654.2 0052161-01523 6 



To the contrary, the long-arm statute establishes a comprehensive 

scheme for personal out of state service for a broad number of acts that 

"submit" the actor to the jurisdiction of the state. RCW 4.28.185( 1 )(a)

( e). Nothing in the statute suggests that particular types of lawsuits, like 

foreclosure suits, are excluded from the long-arm statute's coverage, 

particularly when holding a real property deeds of trust like the deed of 

trust held by Deutsche Bank plainly falls within RCW 4.28.185(1 )(a) and 

(c). 

Moreover, service outside of the state is in derogation of common 

law and the statutes permitting service must be strictly followed to make 

that service effective. Boyd v. Kulczyk, 115 Wn. App. 411, 415, 63 P .3d 

156 (2003). RCW 4.28.180 and RCW 4.28.185 were enacted in 1959 

(substantially in its current form) in 1959 as part of the same act. The two 

sections are therefore read together. An act is construed as a whole, 

giving effect to all the language used, with related statutory provisions 

interpreted in relation to one another. See C.J C. v. Corp. of the Catholic 

Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn.2d 699, 708-09, 985 P.2d 262 (1999); ITT 

Rayonier, Inc. v. Dalman, 122 Wn.2d 801, 807, 863 P.2d 64 (1993) 

("Statutory provisions must be read in their entirety and construed 

together, not piecemeal."). RCW 4.28.185(4) establishes a condition 

precedent to personally serving a party not within the territorial 
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jurisdiction of Washington courts. This condition must be satisfied in 

order to use the method of service specified in RCW 4.28.185(2) and 

RCW 4.28.180 effectively. 

In sum, subsection (6) is designed to recognize that other valid 

manners of service may be utilized in applicable cases. Ford's argument 

that a foreclosure action fits within subsection ( 6) is without merit. 

3. Ford's Case Citations Do Not Support Ford's 
Argument 

Ford argues that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with 

several pre-long-arm statute cases permitting foreclosure cases to be 

commenced without filing the requisite affidavit. Jennings v. Rocky Bar 

Gold Mining Co., 29 Wash. 726, 70 P. 136 (1902) and Roznik v. Becker, 

68 Wash. 63, 122 P. 593 (1912). 

The important thing to note about these cases is their vintage: 

1902 and 1912. At that time, the Pennoyor theory of out of state service 

was the law of the land, based upon the (now rejected) distinction between 

"in rem" cases and "in personam" cases. 

Jennings turned on exactly this point. Although the defendant was 

served out of state, and no affidavit was filed, the court noted that its 

jurisdiction only extended to property located within the state: 

The right to subject property within the state to the 
jurisdiction of its courts is undoubted. If property, 
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real or personal, is appropriately placed within the 
dominion of the court, then the jurisdiction 
becomes complete to adjudicate all controversies 
and all rights in and to such property. The 
legislature has provided a constructive notice to all 
persons having an interest in the property. Such 
constructive notice must be given strictly under 
the provisions of the statute. But § 4879, Bal. 
Code, provides for personal service out of the 
state, and declares it shall be equivalent to service 
by publication. Thus such personal service out of 
the state is declared sufficient notice when the 
court has assumed control of the property within 
the state. This section itself prescribes that such 
service is constructive notice, and does not require 
the affidavit made necessary in service by 
publication. 

Jennings, 29 Wash. at 728 (emphasis added). 5 Jennings expressly relied 

upon Pennoyor: 

It was said in Boswell's Lessee v. Otis, 9 How. 
336: 

"Jurisdiction is acquired in one of two modes: 
first, as against the person of the defendant by the 
service of process; or, secondly, by a procedure 
against the property of the defendant within the 
jurisdiction of the court. In the latter case, the 
defendant is not personally bound by the judgment 
beyond the property in question. And it is 
immaterial whether the proceeding against the 
property be by an attachment or bill of chancery. It 
must be, substantially, a proceeding in rem." 

5 Jennings concluded that "It is settled law that no personal judgment can be 
entered against a defendant upon constructive service." Jennings 29 Wash at 
728. 
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For pertinent discussion of this question see 
Cooper v. Reynolds, 10 Wall. 308; and Pennoyer 
v. Neff, 95 U.S. 714. 

Jennings, 29 Wash at 729-30 (emphasis added). Likewise, in Roznik, the 

court permitted the service to be effective because the reach of the 

judgment was limited to property in the state (and the defendant had 

specially appeared and raised various defenses and arguments). Roznik, 

68 Wash. at 69 ("Such a judgment is not void, although it cannot be 

executed upon property other than the property attached.") 

Jennings and Roznik may have been correctly decided under 

Pennoyor, but these cases have no continuing authority today under 

Mullane, Shaffer, et. al. Subsection (6) was not designed to continue to 

authorize constitutionally invalid theories of service. The Court of 

Appeals' Opinion follows Wenatchee Reclamation Dist. 

Ford also cites to several later cases it argues are in line with 

Jennings. Harder v. McKinney, 187 Wash. 457, 60 P.2d 84 (1936) and 

Hatch v. Princess Louise Corp., 13 Wn. App. 378, 534 P.2d 1036 (1975). 

The Court of Appeals correctly rejected these cases for the reasons set 

forth in the Opinion. Opinion at 4-5. 

C. Conclusion 

When a defendant is personally served out of state, an affidavit 

pursuant to RCW 4.28.185(4) must be filed. Ford's purported exception 
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for foreclosure lawsuits has no basis in the long-arm statute. The Court of 

Appeals' Opinion follows established law, and no issue worthy of this 

Court's review is presented. The Court is respectfully requested to deny 

Ford's petition for discretionary review.